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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

SINCERI GUERRERO,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 14-2107 (RMC)

THOMAS VILSACK, Secretary,
United States Department of Agriculture,

Defendant.
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MEMORANDUM OPINION

Sinceri Guerrero has worked for the U.S. Department of Agriculture since
December 2010Proceeding pro sehs sues the Secretary of the Agricultdrem Vilsack, in
his official capacity. Ms. Guerrealegesthat she has suffered continuous harassment,
intentional discrimination, and retaliation due to her age (52)ace(Hispanic/African
American) and thashe has been underpaid due to gdisbrimination The ®cretary move to
dismiss her casia part,arguing thatMis. Guerrero has failed to exhaust sombefclaimsat
USDA beforetaking them tacourt. As to othershe Secretary argues that they were not timely
brought or do not state a claim for relief that is plausible

The Qurt agrees that some of Ms. Guerrero’s claims are untimely, but also
guestions wheth@dSDA fulfilled its obligations to investigatadequatelWs. Guerrero’s
charges otliscrimination—perhaps because she accused the Office of Civil Rights, which is the
office that investigates such complaintdnd contrary to the Secretary’s positioaysralof Ms.
Guerrero’s allegations state a plausible claim for relief. Becaaseahthe allegations in the

Amended Complaintvarrant discoverythe Secretary’snotion will be granted only in part.
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I. FACTS

All facts allegedin Ms. Guerrero’sAmendedComplaint, Ikt. 2 Am. Compl.)are
taken as true in this procedural postuBaird v. Gotbaum792 F.3d 166169n.2 (D.C. Cir.
2015) (citingBrown v. Sessomg74 F.3d 1016, 1020 (D.C. Cir. 2014)). A praemgaintis
“to be liberally construedand “howeverinartfully pleadegd must be held to less stringent
standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyeEsitksonv. Pardus 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007)
(quotingEstelle v. Gamble429 U.S. 97, 106 (1976)).

The Court may alsceview materialseferencedn the Complaint, particularly
where, as here, the plaintiff has presented the document to the Court in suppartaghi’
Am. Council of Life Insurers v. D.C. Health Benefit Exch. Au@F. Supp. 3d 65, 104 n.21
(D.D.C. 2014)citing Abhe& Svobodalnc. v. Chao508 F.3d 1052, 1059 (D.Cir. 2007); see
also Vanover v. Hantmai@7 F.Supp.2d 91, 98 (D.D.C. 1999) (concludimgt acourt could
properly consider, on motion to dismiss, “various letters and materials produced in geeafour
plaintiff's discharge proceedings” that were émeéd to in the complaint and [were] central to
plaintiff's claims’) aff'd, 38 Fed App’x 4 (D.C. Cir. 2002).

A. Ms. Guerrero’s Initial Federal Employment

Sinceri Guerrerg federal employment began in December 2010, whemake
hired undethe Business Management Leadership Prognémthe USDAs Food Safety and
Inspection Servic@=SIS) Her series and grade were Management An&ig48 andAP-3,

respectively.AP-3 was equivalent to a GS-11, Step 5 pay gratlee leadership program was

1 Although proceeding pro se, Ms. Guerrero is an attorney. Am. Compl. ez lcomplaint
nevertheless is due liberal constructidtioyd v. Lee968 F. Supp. 2d 308, 329 (D.D.C. 2013)
(citing Rogler v. Biglow610 F.Supp.2d 103, 104 n. 2 (D.D.C. 2009)).



part ofabroader~ederal Career Internship Progr@aCIP), under which successful participants
would be converted-after a tweyear trial period and a third year of service—iNtanagement
Analyst at the ARP4 paygrade.

That was not to be, howevass theFCIPwas abolishetty Executive Order
effectiveMarch 1, 2011.SeeExec Order No.13,562 (Dec. 27, 20)0 The Office of Personnel
Management directed agencies on how to handlei@R interns: “[A]ll agencies with FCIP
incumbents must convert them to career-conditional or career positittresaampetitive
service.” OPMExecutive Order 13562 — Recruiting and Hiring Students and Recent Graduates
(Jan. 5, 2011). More specifically, OPM directed thightumbents who have completed less
than one year of continuous Federal Service as of March 1, 2011 will continue to be in a
probationary period, even after their conversion to competitive service, until dedythe one
year service mark. . . .Id. Ms. Guerrero completed her one year of probationary service in
December 2011 and receive@tandard Form (SF) 50 on January 29, 20&fecting her new
status as eegularcompetitive employeand a Management Analy3843, AR4.

Ms. Guerreraspent most of her probationaygarassigned to thESIS’sOffice of
Civil Rights.2 Ms. Guerrero claims to have suffered most of her discrimination at the hands of
thatoffice.

B. The AllegedDiscrimination
The alleged discrimination began in January 2011, when Ms. Guerrermed

her Training OfficerCarmenRottenberg, that the FCIP had been abolished and that Ms.

2 That officeprovides the FSIS Administrator witladvice, guidance and assistance on the
implementation, management and compliance with Equal Employment Opportunitgmssgr
Seehttp://lwww.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/informational/aboutfsis/eilghts (last visited on
SeptembeR9, 2015).



Guerrero washereforea probationary employedvis. Rottenbergepliedthat she did not know
Ms. Guerrero’s status and would continue to treat her as an intern. As indicated below,
references to Ms. Guerrero as an intern, rather than a regular employe®jembto plague her
FSIS career.

Farook Saibecame the Director of the Office of Civil RighitsMarch 2011 and
promotedMVs. Rottenberg to serve b Deputy Director. The Complaint alleges that “Mr. Sait
was a known civil rights violator [andlbject to a settlement agreement that prevented him
from supervising minority women.” Am. Compl. § 13. Ms. Guerrero complained about Mr.
Sait'sappointment and asked to speak &S AdninistratorAlfred Almanza Shewas told that
any communicatiomwith Director Almanza would have to go through Ms. Rottenberg.

Sometime in 201,IMs. Guerrersuggested tMs. Rottenberg that it was
“excessively expensive” to spend $500,00@&adRivil Rights Training seminar at the Ritz
Carlton in Crystal CityVA. This suggestiowas unwelcom#o Ms. Rottenberg, whorémoved
Plaintiff's work assignments and gave them to Amanda Krot, a younger whiteyemplth
less formal education” than Ms. Guerrero Wwhib wasalso a Management Analyst 0343 AP-4.
Id.  14. At other,unspecified time in 2011, Mr. Sait and Ms. Rottenberg spoke openly of Ms.
Guerrero as “merely an old intern” and required her to take inventory ofyaditihrage room in
Beltsville, MD. Id. § 15. Ms. Guerrero complained about all of thisher secondine
supervisorPeter Bridgemarwho told hethat“she would be well served if she remained silent
about her poor treatmentld. § 16.

In June 2011, Ms. Guerrero left the Office of Civil Rights to work in the FSIS
Office of ManagementShe left that job in October 2011 to work in the FSIS Workers

Compensation, Safety and Health Division.



In January 2012Vis. Guerreravasasked to work on the Administrative Solutions
Project Blugrint for Stronger Service, located in the Officaloé Secretargf Agriculture She
was stillclassified as a Management Analyst 03434ABut workedalongsidgand filledthe
same roles agjounger, white coworkers who were paid at a argitade. When Ms. Guerrero
asked for a commensurate increasa 8513 or GS-14aygrade, she was “told that she was an
intern and ineligible.”Am. Compl. § 17. She alleges further that Ms. Rottenberg conspired with
others to keep Ms. Guerrero from obtaining a permanent position in the Secrethcgsand
that she was made sign a form never used for comparable employees, on which Ms. Guerrero
had to predict what she would learn on&ssignment

In November 2012, Ms. Gurero wa reassigned by Ms Rottenberg and Myers
to FSIS’sLabor and Employee Relations DivisidtERD).® Despite Ms. Geurrero’s best efforts
to remain where she was, she was told that she was needed in MERBuerrero alleges that
thatLERD was “a low performing unit with high turnover and a history of employee
dissatisfaction, including workplace violencdd. 1 18. During her first few months in the unit,
seven supervisors and other staff left. She also alleges procedural defecte@assignment,
viz.that she never received a “letter of notification” or “a meeting with Human Ressour
explaining rights and resourcedd. No adjustment to her pay was mad&hen she arrived
moreover, “no one knew what her responsibilities were nor did anyone provide heratith a |
description.” Id. 1194 After much confusion, she was informed that she would perform labor-

relations work as a G$3.

3 According to Ms. Guerrero’s first EEO Complaint, this reassignment occurredtohed 4,
2012, not November as alleged in the Amended Complaint. The month is immaterial.

4 Because of a scrivener’s error, this paragraph is incorrectly nunft2®'eith the Amended
Complaint. As it falls between Paragraphs 18 and 20, the Court will refer to aagdpd 19.



Ms. Guerreralleges that she thesufferedharassment and discrimination
throughout 2013: she w#s) not placed on theAgency call list to be informed of necessary
information (2) deniedfree OPM training for her new positio§3) questioned why she needed
to take time off to votg(4) questioned why she needed sick leave to obtain a requested doctor’s
note; and (5) not given access to necessary office equipment such as a copier, aca
shared drivesThese circumstanceésiposed great stress acausedVs. Guerrerdanxiety and
severe cryingpisodes.”ld.

C. Applicationsto Become d.itigation Specialist

In June 2014, Ms. Guerrero applied for a Litigation Specialist posit@®S-14
grade. She was not referred as a qualified candidatecver, because she did not have a signed
evaluationdue to the fact thathe had no assigned supervisor to complete an evali@tifiscal
year 2013.Ms. Guerrero wrotéo the Deputy Administraton August 20140 complain and
was then granted an intervielwut the job went to someone already considered in the normal
course. Two subsequent applicatiofts GS 14 Litigation Specialist positionsere also
unsuccessful.

When she appliegetagainto becomea GS14 Litigation Specialist, Ms.

Guerrero was rtdgied sometime after October 5, 2014 that she would have to submit a writing
samplewith her applicationShe immediately withdrew her applicatiomthe belief thathe
writing-sample requirement waspretext becaushe was “already providing written documents
to the Litigation Unit” Am. Compl. § 20. Ms. Guerrero therefore thoutlat “there was no
need to supply more writing samplesd. She did not get the job.

D. Pay Disparity

Ms. Guerrero alleges that she “did not receive a promotion or equal pay in 2012



while working on the Administrative Solutions Project with two young white engglogven
though Plaintiff performed the same world. 9 28. She adds that her watkthat timewas
“acknowledged” as superior by her receipt of the Secretary’s Honor Avidrdomparison, Ms.
Guerrero avers that Jaime Edmuds nee Wadzink (a 36 year old white man) anceSomns(&l
35 year old white man) were “both paid higher and received promotions as afé¢saltvork
performed on the Administrative Solutions Projectd.
E. Procedural History

Ms. Guerrero first contacted an Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) counselor
on October 4, 201aftershe learnedhat she would beeassigned to LERBom her detailn
the Office of the SecretaryEEO Counselor’'s Report [Dkt. 6-3First EEO Compl.at 2 Ms.
Guerrero was interviewed by the EEO Counselor on October 11, 201#t.1. TheEEO
complaint and interview narrative show tivg. Guerrero alleged angjle discriminatory acton
October 4, 2012, she was reassigned from the Office of the Secretary to lERER, 3. The
reassignment would result, in Ms. Guerrero’s view, “in a series changeafidanagement
Analyst (0343) to a Litigation Specialist (0201), a Human Resource seliest 2, 3. Ms.
Guerrero “stated [that] she feels the 0201 series is used to marginalize gexqbde.0 Id. at 3.
She asketb remain a Management Analyst with the Administrative Solutions Project until
December 2012, or “if forcedd leave that projectp be a Management Analyst in the Office of
Public Affairs orLERD. Id. at 2.

Ms. Guerrerdiled a formal administrativeanplaint on November 13, 2012.
Complaint of Employment Discrimination [Dkt-H (First Admin. Compl.)at1. She citedhe
following issues: assignment of duties; reassignment; harassment; and tediisft® of

employment.First Admin. Complat1l. Under the heading “What Initiated Thi[s]



Discrimination Complaint,” she wrote: “On October 4, 2012 | was notified by Beidgeman .
.. that I had to terminate my detail and return to FSIS OM as there wasal nged for my
position in my originatig office.” Id. at3. Far fromher reassignment being tbely alleged
discriminatory acthowever the First Administrative Complairmiddedthather reassignment was
“the final act in a long string of continual harassment and symptomatic of blatiztimsal
racism pervasive at USDA.Id. Over the course of a sewpageletter attached to her First
Administrative ComplaintMs. Guerrero allegediscriminatory act$hathadbegunin January
2011. Hrst Admin. Complat6 (“In January 2011 Farook Sait. asked me if | was a Negro.
He stated people often confused him with a Negro because his skin color like raidariyehe
said.”). USDA acceptednly one issue for investigation: the October 4, 2012 reassigrianent
which she had received prior EEO counselibigDA Letter[Dkt. 6-4] (First Acceptance) dt.
Nearthe end othe First Acceptancletter, USDA advised Ms. Guerrero: “If you do not agree
with the defined claim, you must provide us with sufficient reasons, in writing, withaledaar
days of receipt of this letter.” First Acceptanc.aMs. Guerrero challenged that letter two
days after she received it:
[A]lthough | agree with the basic summary written in the USDA
FSISCivil Rights Acceptance letter thatéceived May 13, 2013, |
want to ensure the previous persistent discrimination and
harassment that described in my November 15, 2012 EEO
complaint summary are acknowledged. The basic statement as
written and provided by USDA FSIS Civil Rights does not
acknowledge the ongoing nature or the severity or seriousness of the

previous incidents that led up to the initiating incident, the
reassignment. dm writing this to prevent fragmentation.

Opp’n, Ex. C [Dkt. 9-2 at 23] (May 15, 2013 Letter from Ms. Guerrero to EEOC).

®> Ms. Guerrero reiterated this objection at the September 18, 2014 hearing, Opp’n, Ex9L [Dkt
5] (9/18/14 Hr'g Tr.) at 1-9, statintpat her issue had been “fragmented” and that the “statement
in my complaint there was an ongoing continual harassment.”



Ms. Guerreraontactecan EEO counselagainon January 24, 2014. o@plaint
of Employment DiscriminatiofDkt. 6-6] (Second EEO Complatl. Shecomplained of
reprisal in the formof a “fully successful” ratingm her 2013 performance appraisal, and
unequal paypecauséwhen she began working as a Labor Relations Specialist” on November 5,
2012,shewas not tompensated at a GIS3 level though hemale coverkers [were].” Id. at 2.
AnotherEEOQOinterviewand counseling sessioreveconducted and another report written by the
EEO counselorid. at3-4.

Ms. Guerrerdiled aSecond AministrativeComplaint on March 13, 2014, which
largely mirrored he6econd EEO ComplainComplaint of Employment Discrimination [Dkt.
6-5] (Second Admin. Compl.) at 1.h&agairalleged retaliation for her October 2012 complaint
in the “fully successful” rating on Ms. Guerrero’s 2013 Perforoeafippraisalwhich was
preparedvithoutgiving heran opportunity to submit her accomplishments or meet with her
reviewing supervisorsThe Second Administrative @nplaintalsoincludedanalleged violation
of the Eual Pay Acbecausehe should havieeen paid as a GE3 when she was assigned to
LERD in November 2012. Ms. Guerrero sought back pay.

Based orthe Second Administrative Complaint, USD#cepted thremssues for
investigationon June 16, 2014: (1) under-compensation since November 5, 201#ty(2) f
successful rating on Ms. Guerrero’s 2013 Performance Appraisal; and (3pf‘det:issment”
on “unspecified dates . . . in that a management official consistently referned as an
‘intern.” USDA Letter [Dkt.6-7] (Second Acceptance) at As before, th&Second Aceptance
advised “If you do not agree with the defined claims, you must provide us with sufficient
reasons, in writing, within 7 calendar days or receijhis letter.” Second Acceptance At

Ms. Guerreronvrote nosuch letter



F. This Lawsuit

Representing herself]s. Guerrero filed suin thisCourt on December 12, 2014
and amendetercomplaintsix days later SeeCompl. [Dkt. J; Am. Compl.[Dkt. 2]. She
allegesviolations of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 200€eseq. and
seekdeclaratory relietinder the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § Hdecifically, she
relies on 42 U.S.C. § 2006-16, which prohibits “any discrimination based on race, colaynreligi
sex, or national origin” in personnel decisions miaglthe federal government, as defined. At
the time the Amended Complaint was fildls. Guerrero was a 5gearold HispanidAfrican
American female Ms. Guerrero also claims discrimination based on her age, which is prohibited
by the Age Discrimination in Employment A@9 U.S.C. 8 633a (ADEA), although the
Amended Complaint citesnly Title VIl for this claim.

Count | complains of disparate treatmbatauseimilarly-situated employeeasf
other races oethnicities(under Title VII) and younger in age (under the ADEVgre treated
better tharshe. Count | also containan allegation of disparate pay.

Count Il alleges intentional discrimination atte knowingfailure of USDA
managers tprovide her with anyemedyfor discriminatory actions It contains further
allegations of disparate treatment and complains adsuGuerrero’s unsuccessful attempts to
obtain a jolas a GSl14 LitigationSpecialist

Count Il alleges a violation dhe Lilly Ledbetterair PayAct of 2009 which
amended Section 706(e) of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § Zjé)dand the ADEA,

26 U.S.C. § 2656(dps well aother laws® The Lilly Ledbetter Act changed what it medar

® The Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act was adopted by Congress to ovenei®preme Court’s
decision inLedbetter v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber C5850 U.S. 618 (2007), which held that the
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a discriminatory compensation practice to “octuks amended, the law now provides that a
discriminatory compensation practioecurs “[1] when a discriminatory compensation decision
or other practice is adoptd@] when an individual becomes subject to a discriminatory
compensation decision or other practicd3dmwhen an individual is affectdaly application of a
discriminatory compensation decision or other practiegding each time wages, benefits, or
other compensation is paitesulting in whole or in part from such a decision or other practice.”
42 U.S.C. § 2000&{e)(3)(A) (emphass added) 26 U.S.C. § 2656(d)(3) (emphasis addethe
amendment was made applicable to discriminatiofetgralgovernment agenciegl2 U.S.C.
§ 2000e16(f).

Count Il also complaisithe Ms. Guerrero did not receive a performance bonus in
2013; that she was denied the opportunity to take leadership courses offered to other
Management Analystand that Mses. Myers and Rottenberg intentionally seated Jackie
Shamblin across from her to intimidate her. Mr. Shamblin was the former Dioéd¢tdoiman
Resources who lost his position after he threatened to use a taser on his staff. AmJG8mpl

The Secretary moved to dismiss alternatively for summary judgment, on
February 6, 2015. Moto DismisgDkt. 6] (Mot.). Ms. Guerrero filed an opposition, Dkt. 9
(Opp’n). The Secretary filed a reply, Dkt. 10 (Replgihd the motion is now ripe for resolutiéon.

II. LEGAL STANDARDS

The only statute cited in Ms. Guerrero’s Amended Complaint is Titlé Wlis

time period for filing a charge with the EEOC began running when the payotewids made
and not each time the employee received an unequal paycheck.

" Ms. Guerrero filed a Surreply without leave from the Court. Surreply [Dkt. 11] (Byixre
The Secretary has since moved to strike the unauthorized filing. Mot. [Dkt. 12] (Matik&).St
The Court willdenythe motion to strike.

8 She also claims that the Secretary has violated the “Lily Ledbetter FairdPaj 2009.” See
Am. Compl. 11 34-38 (Count Ill). But as described above, that Act has no substantive

11



clear, however, that her allegations implicate several othferd.because Ms. Guerrero
repeatedly, and broadly, alleges “discrimination” and “retaliation,” ietessary to set forth the
applicable standards under each of the relevaniteta

A. Discrimination under Title VII

Title VII of the Civil Rights Actof 1964,as amended bgqual Employment
Opportunity Act of 1972, prohibitstatusbased discriminatiom the federal workplac®. It
generallyprohibitsa federal employer from making any “personnel decisidmged oran
employee’s raceolor, sex,religion or nationaty. See42 U.S.C. § 2000e-1®&aird, 792 F.3d
at168. The “two essential elements of a discrimination claim” under Title VII are [1hdhe
plaintiff suffered an adverse employment ac{@dhbecause of the plaintif race, color,
religion, sex]Jor] national origin. Baloch v. Kempthorné&50 F.3d 1191, 1196 (D.C. Cir. 2008)
(collecting cases).

The first element, an “adverse employment action,” is an establisheddegal
Seegenerally Douglas v. Donovab59 F.3d 549, 551-52 (D.C. Cir. 200&inger v. Dist. of
Columbig 527 F.3d 1340, 1343 (D.Cir. 2008). It means‘a significant change in employment
status, such as hiring, firing, failing to promote, reassignment with sigmtifyagifferent
responsibilities, or a decision causing significant change in benefiggtor v. Small350 F.3d
1286, 1293 (D.CCir. 2003) (quotindBurlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerttb24 U.S. 742, 761
(1998)). An employee must “experience[] materially adverse consequaffeeting the terms,

conditions, or privileges of employment or future employment opportunities such that

prohibitions; it merely changed the definition of “occurs” in the context of digtatian by
compensation.

¥ SeeEqual Employment Opportunity Act of 1972, Pub. L. 92-261, sec. 10, § 715, 86 Stat. 103,
111 (codified as amended at 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-16).
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reasonable trier of fact could find objectively tangible harfoikkio v. Powell 306 F.3d 1127,
1131 (D.CCir. 2002);see also Holcomb v. Powel33 F.3d 889, 902 (D.Cir. 2006)
(distinguishing between “purely subjective injuries,” which are not actionable céaettively
tangible harm,” which is)An actionableadverse actiofin most cases inflictdirecteconomic
harm.” Burlington Indus.524 U.S. at 762Thus, “not everything that makes an employee
unhappy is an actionable adverse actidRussell v. Principi257 F.3d 815, 818 (D.Cir.
2001).

To satisfy the second elemenplaintiff can claim that théadverse employment
action”violated Title VIl on either of two grounds. Firsgthe can claim that was perpetrated
“because of” herace, color, religion, sexyr national origin 42 U.S.C. 8§ 20002¢a). Or
secondshe can claim thatny of thosejualities “was a motivating factor ffthe] employment
practice, even though other factors also motivated the practite§’2000e2(m).2° The first is
known as dsingle-motive” or “pretext”’ theory of discrimination, and the second is known as a
“mixed-motive” theory!! See generally Fogg v. Gonzald92 F.3d 447, 451 (D.C. Cir. 2007).

If aplaintiff cansummondirect evidencef discriminatory intent under either

theory,such evidencwiill “generally entitle[the] plaintiff to a jury trial and thusdefeat a

10 Section 2000&(m) was added by th@ivil Rights Act of 1991, Pub. L. 102-166, § 107(a),
105 Stat. 1071, 1075.

1 Under a mixednotive theory, a plaintiff can establish an unlawful employment practice by
showing that “discrimination or retaliation played a ‘motivating part’ or waslzstantial

factor’ in the employment decision . without proving that an impermissible consideration was
the sole or but-for motive for the employment actioRdgg v. Gonzales192 F.3d 447, 451
(D.C. Cir. 2007) (quotingporter v. Natsios414 F.3d 13, 18, 19 (D.C. Cir. 2005)h a mixed
motive casethe defendant may offer a “limited affirmative defense” that it “would haventak
the samection in theabsence of the impermissible motivating factdPdrter, 414 F.3d at 19
(citing42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e-5(g)(2)(B)). If so, the court “shall not award damages or issue an
order requiring any . . . reinstatement, hiring, promotion, or payment.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-
5(9)(2)(B)(ii). A plaintiff who is successful in a mixadotive case caanly obtain injunctive
relief, declaratory reliefand attorney’s fees and costd. § 2000e5(g)(2)(B)(i).

13



defendant’s motion for summary judgme®ee AyissEtoh v. Fannie Magr12 F.3d 572, 576
(D.C. Cir. 2013) (per curiam) (quotingatel v. Alliance of Auto. Mfrs627 F.3d 1245, 1247
(D.C. Cir. 2011))}*? Indeed, if a plaintiff is able to producdirect evidence of discrimination,
he may prevail without proving all the elents of a prima facie caseSwierkiewicz v. Sorema
N. A, 534 U.S. 506, 511 (2008)iting Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Thurstoa69 U.S. 111, 121
(1985)). Buti theplaintiff can only adduceircumstantial evidence of discriminatiare., a
prima facie case onlgourts apply the burdeshifting framework set forth iMmcDonnell
Douglas Corp. v. Greert11 U.S. 792, 802 (1973).

TheMcDonnell Douglagramework appliess follows The plaintiff must first
make a prima facie case (1) that she is a member of a protected class; (2) thatrgukeasuffe
adverse employment action; and (3) that the unfavorable action gives rise terandafof
discrimination. Youssef .B.l., 687 F.3d 397, 401-02 (D.C. Cir. 2013}ella v. Mineta284
F.3d 135, 145 (D.CCir. 2002) Brown v. Brody19 F.3d 446, 452 (D.C. Cir. 1999). The
burden then shifts to the defendant, which martculate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory
resson” for its action.See Tex. Dep’t of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdid80 U.S. 248, 253 (1981). Ifit
does, then the plaintiff must show by a preponderance of the evidence that the reasmesladva

by the employer were merely a pretext to hide discriminatior?

12 Entitlement to a jury triatan arisérom the evidence itselfvithout a finding oits credibility.
AyissiEtoh 712 F.3d at 576-77 (“[W]hen the issue comes down to a credibility contest of this
kind, we cannot resolve the dispute at the summary judgment stage against tha/imgn-m
party. [The] statement alone is direct evidence that in this case gpldiesff] to a jury

trial.”).

13The D.C. Circuit has recently expounded upon the “multiple ways in which circumistantia
evidence may support an inference that an employer’s stated reason foeagethll
employment action was not the actual reason,” and that the real reason wasegrohibi
discrimination or retaliation:

The temporal proximity of an adverse action close on the heels of protetitegt ac
is a common and highly probative type of circumstantial evidence of retaliation.

14



On a motion for summary judgment, once an employesudaties a legitimate,
non-discriminatory reason for its action(s), the plaintiff's prima facie caselisrelevantin the
context of the evidence as a whoRrady v. Office of Sergeant at Arns20 F.3d 490, 494
(D.C. Cir. 2008). [1] n considering aemployets motion for summary judgment or judgment as
a matter of law in those circumstances, the district court must resolve orad gaastion: Has
the employee produced sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to find thatgloyers
asserted noediscriminatory reason was not the actual reason and that the employeomaint
discriminated against the employee on the basis of race, color, religion, sedqmalraigin?”
Id. (citing St. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v. Hicks509 U.S. 502, 507-08, 511 (1998)S. Postal Serv.
Bd. of Governors v. Aikend60 U.S. 711, 714-16 (1983)).

The courts have recognized a special typagisdfriminationclaim based on a
“hostile work environment.”SeeBaird, 792 F.3dat 168 (citing Hussain v. Nicholsq35 F.3d
359, 366 (D.CCir. 2006)). A hostile environmegtaim consists omultiple acts that “may not
be actionable on [their] own” but become actionable due to their “cumulative efféat]’R.R.

Passenger Corp. v. MorgaB36 U.S. 101, 115 (2002).he constituent acts must be “adequately

See Hamiltorjv. Geithne}, 666 F.3d [1344,] 135569 [(D.C. Cir. 2012)]. Other
common ways of proving invidious motivevhether retaliation or
discriminatior—include pointing to evidence that the employer treated other,
similarly situated employees better; that the employer isdlgimout the underlying
facts” of its decision; that there were “changes and inconsistencies” in the
employer's given reasons for the decision; that the employer failed tow‘follo
established procedures or criteria”; or that the employer's “general ¢r¢aim
minority employees” (or, in the retaliation context, employees who assbdid
Title VIl rights) was worse than its treatment of nomorities (or employees who
did not assert their Title VIl rights)Brady [v. Office of Sergeant at Arin$20

F.3d [490,] 495 & n. 3 [(D.C. Cir. 2008)]. Invidious motive may also be inferred
from “an error too obvious to be unintentional.'Grosdidier v. Broad. Bd. of
Governors 709 F.3d 19, 26 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (quotiRgschbach v. D.C. Dep't of
Corr., 86 F.3d 1180, 1183 (D.C. Cir. 1996)).

Allen v. Johnson795 F.3d 34, 40 (D.C. Cir. 2015).
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linked” such that they form “a coherent hostile environment claiBaird v. Gotbaum662 F.3d
1246, 1251 (D.CCir. 2011). For example, they might “involve the same type of employment
actions, occur relatively frequently, and [be] perpetrated by the same mahaddefalterations
omitted). In addition, the acts must be “of such severity or pervasiveness as to alter the
conditions of . . . employment and create an abusive working environntéumgsain 435 F.3d
at 366 (quotation marks and alterations omitte®Bverity and pervasiveness are determined by
reference to “all the circumstances,” including “the frequency of the dis@aiarinconduct; its
severity; whether it is physicaltpreatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and
whether it unreasonably interferes with an employee’s work performahigeris v. Forklift
Sys., InG.510 U.S. 17, 23 (1993). The standard is an objective ldnat 21
B. Retaliation under Title VII

Title VIl also protectsfederal employeesom retaliationfor having asserted their
rights See42 U.S.C. § 2000e-16(a). To prove unlawful retaliation under Titleavilemployee
must establish three elementk) that she made a charge or opposed a practice made unlawful
by Title VII, (2) that the employer took a materially adverse action against hef3xheht the
employer took the action because of her protected condilen v. Johnson795 F.3d 34, 39
(D.C. Cir. 2015)(citing McGrathv. Clinton 666 F.3d 1377, 1380 (D.C. Cir. 2012)). Ms.
Guerreros 2012 EEO anddministrative complaintare the sorts dfcharge[s] that satisfy the
first element Am. Compl. § 224 The other two elements differ from their discrimination

counterparts in important respects.

4The Amended Complaint elsewhere suggests that Ms. Guerrero was “retalaitesd kg Ms.
Rottenberg” after pointing out that $500,000 was too much for arais trainhg event. Am.
Compl. § 14. This does not constitute an allegation of unlawful retaliation under Tithes\&lh,
over-priced training event is not “a practice made unlawful by Titlé¢ VAR U.S.C. § 2000e-
16(a). Any retaliation against Ms. Guerrero for opposing it is not actionable utiéev T
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Importantly, etaliatoryconduct need not reach the same level of adversity as
discriminatoryconduct. See generally Mogenhan v. Napolitad3 F.3d 1162, 1165-66 (D.C.
Cir. 2010) (citingBurlington N. & Santa Fe Railway Co. v. Whi5s8 U.S. 53, 60-61, 67-68
(2006). In other words, Title VII's substantivgdiscrimination]provision and its anti-
retaliation provision are not coterminduecause the “scope of the argtaliation provision
extends beyond workplacetated or employmentlated retaliatory acts and harnSteele v.
Schafey 535 F.3d 689, 695 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (quotBgrlington N, 548 U.S. at 67)Soinstead
of “affecting the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment,” as discriminatiast,
retaliatory conduct need only “dissuade[] a reasonable worker from making ortsuppor
charge of discrimination.’Mogenhan 613 F.3d at 1166 (quotiriurlington N, 548 U.S. at 68).
Nonetheless, thisaterial adversityequires “more than ‘those petty slights or minor annoyances
that often take place at work and that all employees experierigdadgeforth v. Jewell721
F.3d 661, 663 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (quotiBgrlington N, 548 U.S. at 68).

Retaliation also differs from discriminatiamits causationretaliation claims
must be proved according to traditional principles of but-for causation:. of Tex. SW Med.
Ctr. v. Nassar133 S. Ct. 2517, 2534 (2013)A] plaintiff making a retaliation claim under
8 2000e-3(a) must establish that his or her protected activity wadar loatise of the alleged
adverse action by the employer. Thus, there isi0 “mixed motive” retaliation.Cf. EEOC v.
Abercrombie &Fitch Stores, In¢.135 S. Ct. 2028, 2032 (2015) (contrastiassats butfor
standard in the retaliation context with there “relaxe[d]” standard in Title VII's mixethotive
discriminationprovision, 42 U.S.C. § 20004m)). However,but-for causation does notean
that retaliatiormust bethe only cause of the employeractior—merelythat the adverse action

would not have occurreabsenthe retaliatory motiveZann Kwan v. Andalex Grp. LLC37
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F.3d 834, 846 & n.5 (2d Cir. 20x3}arlson v. CSX Transp., In&58 F.3d 819, 828 n.1 (7th
Cir. 2014).

Finally, retaliation claimsasednly on circumstantial evidence are subject to the
same burdeshifting frameworkof McDonnell Douglasoutlined aboveas discrimination
claims. SeeAllen, 795 F.3d at 39.

C. Discrimination under the ADEA

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA) prohibits discrimination
against federal employees based on age. 29 U.S.C. § 633a. The “two essential elements of
discrimination claim” under thADEA are“that[1] the plaintiff suffered an adverse
employment actiof2] because athe plaintiff's. . .age.” Baloch 550 F.3dat 1196 (D.C. Cir.
2008)(collecting cases)Claims under the ADEA are subject to MeDonnell Douglas
framework described abové&iles v. Transit Employees Fed. Credit Uni@d4 F.3d 1, 5 (D.C.
Cir. 2015) (citingSmith v. Dist. of Columbja30 F.3d 450, 455 (D.C. Cir. 2005)

D. Retaliation under the ADEA

The Supreme Court has also held that the “discrimination based on age” includes
“retaliation based on the filing of an age discrimination complai@dmezPerez v. Potter553
U.S. 474, 479 (2008). The ADEA thus prohibits retaliation just as Title VIl does, albeit not
explicitly. “To prove retaliatioqunder the ADEA] the plaintiff generally must establish that he
or she suffered [1d materially adverse acti¢B] because he or she had brought or threatened to
bring a discrimination clairh. Baloch v. Kempthorné50 F.3d 1191, 1198 (D.C. Cir. 2008).
The ADEA “requires proof that the prohibited criterion was the but-for cause pfahéited
conduct.” Univ. of Tex. Southwesterh33 S. Ct. at 2523 (citingross v. FBL Fin. Servs., Inc.

557 U.S. 167 (2009)). In other words, there is no mmedive retaliation under the ADEA just
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as there is no mixenhotive retaliation under Title VIIIf the material adversity would still have
been suffered absent the retaliatory motixee|f it had more tha one butfor cause, aetaliation
claim under the ADEAwill fail .

Finally, “ADEA[] retaliation claims based on circumstantial evidence” abgesti
to “the familiar burdershifting framework oMcDonnell Douglas Jones v. Bernank&57
F.3d 670, 677 (D.C. Cir. 2009i(ing Carter v. George Wash. Unj\887 F.3d 872, 878 (D.C.
Cir. 2004)).

E. Discrimination under the Equal Pay Act

The Equal Pay Act of 196EPA) amended the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938
(FLSA) to protectemployees-including federaemployees—from pay discrimination on the
basis of sexSee29 U.S.C. § 206(d}®> Specifically, federal employers are prohibited from
“paying wages to employees in [their agency] at a rate less than the rate aftivhamployer]
pays wages to employees of the opposite sex,” provided that the work “requirekeigqual s
effort, and responsibility” and is “performed under similar working conditiof.” Exceptions
are provided for: (i) a seniority system; (ii) a merit system; (iii) a system which measures
earnirgs by quantity or quality of production; or (iv) a differential basedmnother factor
other than sex."d.

F. Retaliationfor Bringing an Equal Pay ActClaim

The EPA itself does not prohilvgtaliation against employeés filing claims.
However,Section 15(a)(3) of the FLSA makes it unlawful “to discharge or in any other manner
discriminate against any employee because such employee has filedrgtgicoor instituted

or caused to be instituted any proceeding under or related to dpech See29 U.S.C.

15 Equal Pay Act of 1963, Pub. L. 88-38, § 3, 77 Stat. 56, 56-57.
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§ 215(a)(3).That chapter, as amendéagludes the EPA’s prohibition on gendsased wage
discrimination. An EPA claimant who suffers retaliation may therefore stiekunder the
FLSA's antiretaliation provisions.

Courts essentially equate the elements of retaliation under the FLSA with those
under Title VII. Benton v. Laborers’ Joint Training Funtlo. CV 14-1073, 2015 WL 4736028,
at *8n.9 (D.D.C. Aug. 10, 2015YBecause the elements of a prima facie case dfatta are
essentially identical under the FLSA and Title VII,. Title VIl case law is instructive herg.”
(quotingCooke v. RosenkeB01 F. Supp. 2d 64, 73 (D.D.C. 2009)p establish a retaliation
claim under the FLSA,d plaintiff is required tehow that (1) he made an FLSA complaint or
otherwise engaged in protected conduct; (2) the defendant was aware that hgalyad en
protected activity; (3) the defendant took an action that was materiallysedweethe
complainant and sufficient to digade a reasonable employee from further protected activity;
and that (4) there was a causal relationship between the Bab.Villar v. Flynn Architectural
Finishes, InG.893 F. Supp. 2d 201, 213 (D.D.C. 201&)ing Caryk v. Coupg663 F. Supp.
1243, 1253 (D.D.C. 1987)).

Retaliation claims under the FLSA are subjeabsent direct evideneeto the
burdenshifting framework oMcDonnell Douglasdescribed above/Nood v. SatCom Mktg.,
LLC, 705 F.3d 823, 828 (8th Cir. 2013).

G. Administrative Exhaustion: the EEO Process and Timeliness

Federal employees must exhaust their administrative remedies before filing suit
under Title Vilor the ADEA. Koch v. Walter935 F. Supp. 2d 164, 169 (D.D.C. 2018)ing
29 U.S.C § 633a(b(d); 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-16(dpayne v. Salaza619 F.3d 56, 58 (D.Cir.

2010)). The same process applies to claims brought under Title VII, the ADEA, dfglthle
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Pay Act 29 C.F.R. § 1614.103(&). That process begins when #raployee contactsn EEO
counselor, which must be done within 45 daya discreteact that is allegedly discriminatory

Id. 8 1614.10%a)(1) see also Woodruff v. Peted82 F.3d 521, 527 (D.Cir. 2007). If the

matter is not resolved through counseling, the employee must timedy fddministrative
complaint with the agency. 29 C.F.R. § 1614.106¢n)-After the agency has the opportunity to
investigate the matter, the complainant may demand an immediate final decision frgenttye a
or a hearing before an EEOC administrativege. Id. 88 1614.106(e)(2)L614.108(f). A
complainant may file a civil action within 90 days of receipt of the final decisoon the

agency ot any timeafter a complaint has been pending for at least 180 ddy§.1614.407.

Because untimely exhaustion of administrative remedies is an affirmafeese,

a defendant bears the burden of prd®@bwden v. United State$06 F.3d 433, 437 (D.C. Cir.
1997)(citing Brown v. Marsh777 F.2d 8, 13 (D.CCir. 1985)).

The administrative filing requiremeapplicable to federal employees “essentially
functions as atatute of limitations for Title VII actions.Carter v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit
Auth, 503 F.3d 143, 145 (D.C. Cir. 2007)Filing a timely charge of discrimination with the
EEOC is not a jurisdictional prerequisite to suit in federal court, but a regentehat, like a
statute of limitations, is subject to waiver, estoppel, and equitable tollfiges v. Trans World
Airlines, Inc, 455 U.S. 385, 393 (1982). “Exhaustion under Title VII, like other procedural
devices, should never be allowed to become so formidable a demand that it obscuras the cle

congressional purpose of rooting out every vestige of employmenndisation within the

16 Although theprocessapplies to all three statutes, there is no administrathaustion
requirement for violations of the Equal Pay Act, which may be brought in federaucolar
Section 16(b) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), anytime within two years of the alleged
violation—or within three years if the violation was willfuCompare29 C.F.R. 8§ 1614.40®ith
id. 8§ 1614.408.
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federal government.’Brown 777 F.2dat 14 (quotation marks and alterations omittedhus,
the requirement that a federal employee contact an EEO counselor within 45 days of
discriminatory act can be equitably tolleSteele v. Schafeb35 F.3d 689, 693 (D.C. Cir. 2008)
(citing Stewart v. Ashcrgf852 F.3d 422, 426 (D.C. Cir. 2003)).

Administrative exhaustion applies differently“tmntinuing” violations than to
“discrete” violations.See generally Nat'l R.R. Corp. v. Morg&86 U.S. 101 (2002f Under
the continuingviolation doctrinearticulated inviorgan, “if the alleged acts constitute one similar
pattern or practice and at least one illegal act took place within the filing perérdthe
complaint of discrimination is not tirAgarred and acts outside the statutory period may be
considered for purposes$ lability.” Mayers v. LaborersHealth & Safety Fund of N. Ap?178
F.3d 364, 368 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (quotigngletary v. Dist. of Columbi&51 F.3d 519, 526 (D.C.
Cir. 2003)) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The doctrine is subfeabto
crucial limiting principles.” Mayers 478 F.3d at 368. First, it does not apyly[d]iscrete acts
such as termination, failure to promote, denial of transfer, or refusal to hiraidegalach
incident of discrimination and each retaliatory exbe employment action constitutes a separate

actionable ‘unlawful employment practice.ltl. (quotingMorgan, 536 U.S. at 114). Second,

17 Equitable tolling under Title Vifor federal employeeinctions the same as it does in private
lawsuits. See Gantt v. Mabu857 F. Supp. 2d 120, 128 (D.D.C. 2012) (citdges 455 U.Sat
393-94) Irwin v. Dep't of Veterans Affairg198 U.S. 89, 95-96 (1990)). The invoking litigant
bears the burden of establishing two elements: (1) that she has been pursughgshis r
diligently, and (2) that some extraordinary circumstance stooeriwwdy. Gantt 857 F. Supp.

2d at 128 (citing?ace v. DiGuglielmp544 U.S. 408, 418 (2005)). The doctrine is to be
“exercised only in extraordinary and carefully circumscribed instandderidy v. Sec'’y of the
Army, 845 F.2d 1051, 1057 (D.C. Cir. 1988).

18 A hostile work environment is a species of continuing violatibobin v. Liberty Mut. Ins.
Co, 553 F.3d 121, 130 (1st Cir. 2009) (“The classic example of a continuing violation is a
hostile work environment[.]”) (citindorgan 536 U.S. at 117gccord Mayers v. Laborers’
Health & Safety Fund of N. Ap#78 F.3d 364, 368 (D.C. Cir. 200Bingletay v. Distict of
Columbig 351 F.3d 519, 526-27 & n.8 (D.C. Cir. 2003).
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the plaintiff alleging a continuing violation must “must allege that at least one ‘airtieding
to the claimoccur[red] within the filing period.” Mayers 478 F.3d at 368 (quotifgorgan,
536 U.S. at 117).
F. Failure to State a Claim

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claimderRule 12(b)(6) challenges the
adequacy of a complaint on its face. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). A complaint must be sufficient
“to give a defendant fair notice of what the . . . claim is and the grounds upon which.it rest
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y650 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (internal citations omitted). Although a
complaint does not need detailed factual allegations, a plambfigation to provide the
grounds of his entitlement to relief “requires more than labels and conclusionsiocamaiiaic
recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not dd.”A court must treat the
complaint’s factual allegations as true, “even if doubtful in faict,” but a court need not accept
as true legal conclusions set forth in a complaeeAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).
To survive a motion to disiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as
true, to state a claim for relief that is “plausible on its fadevombly 550 U.S. at 570. A
complaint must allege sufficient facts that would allow the court “to draw the edalson
inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleggddl, 556 U.S. at 678-79.

In deciding a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), a court may consider the facts alleged
in the complaint, documents attached to the complaint as exhibits or in¢edobyareference,
and matters about which the court may take judicial no#ddshe & Svoboda, Inc. v. Chad08
F.3d 1052, 1059 (D.C. Cir. 2007). If, in considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, “matters outside the
pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treagefbias on

summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 580}y Land Found. For Relief &
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Dev.v. Ashcroft 333 F.3d 156, 165 (D.C. Cir. 2003). Where matters outside the pleadings are
presented in a mioin to dismiss, the court must treat the motion as one for summary judgment
under Rule 56. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d
lll. ANALYSIS

Thebulk of the Secretary’siotion is aimed atls. Guerrerts failure to follow
the administrative process outlined aboVée Secretary argues thrahe of Ms. Guerrero’s
present claims were neverentioned tan EEO ounselor Relatedly, the Secretary argues that
eight other claims are “not encompassed within, or closely related to,” tles sstepted for
investigation by the USDAMot. at 11. In the alternative, the Secretary argues fivat of Ms.
Guerrero’s allegations fail to state a claim upon which relief can be grafiteally, the
Secretary argues that the Second Administrative Complaint was never eghaecsduse Ms.
Guerrero withdrew her request for a hearing and filed the instant lawsuit.

A. Failure to Exhaust the Second Administrative Complaint

Althoughmade last, the Court will address first the Secretary’s argument that Ms.
Guerrero’s Second Administrative Complaint was not exhaudied.Secretary relies
principally onWiley v. Johnson436 F. Supp. 2d 91 (D.D.C. 2006). TWdey plaintiff filed his
EEQCC complaint on April 26, 200andrequestec hearing on February 21, 2002e withdrew
his request for a hearing on January 7, 2003s Court held that “[a] voluntary dismissal
cannot be used to circumvent the requirement of exhaustidnat 95. A contrary result would
“undermine the purposes behind the exhaustion doctrine,” namely, “the process of nattiewing
issues.”Id.

But as the Secretary concedes in a footnote, Ms. Guerrero didtoadly

withdraw ordismiss her EEOC complainThe Secretary confuses “effect” with “fact”:
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Thus,in effect plaintiff voluntarily dismissed her EEOC case before

the hearing could take place. . .In fact, plaintiff did notfile a

motion to withdraw her request for a hearing or to dismiss her

administrative complaint. Therefore, her request for a hearing

technically remains pending . . . .
Mot. at 14 & n.1(emphass added).Because Ms. Guerrero neweithdrenv her EEOC
complaint,Wileyis inapposite. Not only has Ms. Guerrero done nothing to prevent her Second
Administrative Complainfrom being exhausted,is the Secretaryvho now “intends to move to
dismiss herEEOC] complaint in light of this lawsuit.Td. at 14 n.1. The Secretary thus asks
the Court to dismisgertainof Ms. Guerrero’slaimsat the same time thae askghe EEOC to
dismissthe same claimsThe Court will deny the Secretaryisotion in thisrespect.

B. Failure to Contact an EEO Counselor Within 45 Days

The Secretary moves to dismiss Ms. Guerrero’s allegadiosiang fromhertime
in the Office of Civil Rightsbecause she failed to contact an EEO counselor within 4tlays
the allegedliscriminatory treatmentSeeMot. at 810 (citing 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1614.05Y.he

Secretary assailineof Ms. Guerrero’'sallegationsasuntimely in this regard:

1. That she wageferred to as an intern and . relegated to
secretarial duties with undesiraldsesignments. (Am. Compl.
19123, 25, 32)

2. Thather skinwastouched by Ms. Rottenberg and Mr. Sait, and
that she was asked if she was a Nedld. 1 29)

3. That herassignmentsvere removedandthat she bemne the
subject of open discussions meant to humiliate Hdr.q (29)

4. That she received a performance appraisal in 2011 that stated:
“Plaintiff would be well served if she should keep silent [sic]
what happened in Civil Rights.”ld T 29)

5. That she wadold “to go someplace else if you want an
opportunity.” (d. T 30)

6. That she waslenied an opportunity to take leadership courses.
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(Id. 137)

7. That she wasnade to clean out a storage room filled with
hazardous materialqld. T 15)

8. That she was toltishe woud be well served if she remained
silent about her poor treatment.Id(] 16

9. That she [was paidgss that two younger, white males working
on the Administration Solutions Projedld.  28)

Mot. at 810. The Secretary argues that the first allegaiiothis listtook place in 2011, “at

least a year before plaintiff contacted an EEO counselor” in October 201.8. Citing Ms.
Guerrero’s First and Second EEO Complaints, the Secretarysatmiallegations-8 are not
mentioned ireither. Id. at 810. Regarding Ms. Guerrero’s complaint abdigparate paythe

ninth allegatiof, the Secretary argues that Ms. Guerrero should have made this claimirster F
EEO Complaint, and wastimelyin waiting to bring it in her Second EEO Complaint more
than a year laterld. at 9-10.

Ms. Guerrero responds thihereis “a genuine issue of material fact” as to
whether the actionalleged inherFirstEEO Complaint anérirst AdministrativeComplaint‘are
discreet acts or ongoing harassment.” Opp’n’at Bthe latter, &e argues further that there is a
genuine dispute as to whether she has pleaded a “hostile work enviroasdetined by
Morgan 536 U.Sat115-21. Without the benefit of a record made through discovery, the Court
agres with Ms. GuerreroSeeMorgan 536 U.S. at 116 (“In determining whether an actionable
hostile work environment claim exists, we look to ‘all the circumstances.” Yifgudarris v.

Forklift Sys., Ing.510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993)). The Court doesyaithave all “all the

19 Because of a scrivener’s error, the Opposition skips from page 10 to page 13. To avoid
confusion, the Court will cite to the pagination that is generated by the ElecdasecFiling
(ECF) system.
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circumstances,” and thus cannot begin to undertake the inquiry prescribegddan With
every inference drawn in her faydis. Guerrero complained of an actionable, continuing
violation under Title VII. SeeFirst Admin. Compl. at 8 (setting forth pages of allegations
under the header: “Why | Was Afraid of Returning to USDA FSIS I@bntinual
Harrassment/Discriminatiofl) (emphasis added).

Other courts in this district have likewise refrained from deciding, basad on
EEO complaint alone, whether alleged violations are discrete or continSig}. e.gNat’l Fair
Hous. Alliance, Inc. v. Prudential Ins. Co. of A@19 F. Supp. 2d 104, 105 (D.D.C. 200At(*
this stage in the proceedings, individual plaintiffs have adequately pled shenes of
continuing violations. The Court will entertain any challenges by defentiatits viability of
the continuing violations doctrine for purposes of the statutendftions after the development
of a factual record.”) In Bell v. Gonzalesaplaintiff with disabilities alleged thabver a number
of years his supervisors treated him less favorably than his non-disabled peers. 398 F. Supp. 2d
78, 84 (D.D.C. 2005) The plaintiff did not file timely EEOC complaints related to this conduct
but did file a timely complaint regarding an undesired lateral transfehn¢hateged was
discriminatory. Id. at 852° TheBell court notedplaintiff’s contention thah seris ofevents
“collectively rose to the level of a hostile work environment” so that the “goeined of the
hostile environment may be considered by a court for the purposes of determinlity. fialu.
at 85. The court obsexdthat the allegations in district cowverebased substantially on the
same conduct alleged the plaintiff's administrative complaintld. (“Accordingly, the Court

grants defendantsnotion to dismiss the claims alleging discrete acts of discrimination as

20 The same 4%lay time limit applies téederal employeewith Rehabilitation Act claims, as in
Bell, 398 F. Supp. 2d at 84-91.
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violations of law . . and denies the motion to the extent it seeks to dismiss plaintiff's hostile
work environment clain). The Secretary’exhaustion argumeinrt this case will similarlye
denied as to the claim of a hostile work environment.

“TheMorganprinciple is not, however, an open sesame to recovery for time-
barred violations$. Baird v. Gotbaum662 F.3d 1246, 1251 (D.C. Cir. 201Ihat is because
“incidents barred by the statute of limitations and ones not barred can quapfrtasfthe same
actionable hostile environment cldionly if they are adequately linked into a coherent hostile
environment claim—if, for example, they ‘involve[ ] the same type of employaitns,
occurl] relatively frequently, and [are] perpetrated by the same mariagketgquoting
Morgan 536 U.S. at 120-321 Whether Ms. Guerrero’s claims are “adequately linkaal thus
constitute a continuing violatias a question that mube resolved with the benefit of a
developed recordNevertheless, the Court will rule at this juncture that thextrausted
claims—the first eight listed aboveare not separately actionaltlecause they were not brought
to an EEO Counselor within 45 days of their occurring.

Ms. Guerrero’aydiscrimination claim—ninth on the list aboveistimely and
thus separately actionabie Title VII now provides thaa discriminator\compensatiopractice
occurs tach timavages benefits, or other compensation is paid, resulting in whole f@airin
from such adecision or other practice42 U.S.C. § 2000&{e)(3)(A). Although the Secretary
would define Ms. Guerrero’s unequal paychea&gose she receivéwhile working on the
Administrative Solutions ProjectMot. at 10, her complaint is that her unequal pay in 2012

persisted in, and may have led to, continuing unequal pay in 2013 when she was reassigned to

21 Ms. Guerrero alleges that she was paid less than two “young white employeesCorupi.
1 28. Because she does not state a gender-based claim, the Equal Pay Act doesamat apply
Ms. Guerrero must have exhausted the administrative processTuihel®fil.
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LERD. Am. Compl. 1Y 28, 34. Indeed, the nature of the government pay and promotion system
is such that Ms. Guerrero’s non-promotion while on detajl well affect her compensatido
this day. It cannot be said on this very limited record that Ms. Guerpag'discrimination
claim was untimelyinasmuchas the allegedlynlawful employment practice continued to
“occur.” Seed42 U.S.C. § 2000&{e);26 U.S.C. § 2656(d).
C. Allegations Not Accepted byUSDA

The nextclass of allegations challenged by the Secretarlydes those brought
to anEEO counselor’s attention but not acceptedJBYA for investigation. The Secretary
argues that “plaintiff has failed to exhaust administrative remedies facmpot encompassed
within, or closely related to, the[] four investigated issudshtified in the USDA'’s two
acceptance letters. Mot. at 1He identifieseightsuchallegationdy Ms. Guerrero

1. That she was denied a job as aBLitigation Specialist(Am.
Compl. 11 20, 33)

2. That she was denied free training opportunities wighGiffice
of Personnel Managementd.(11 19, 37)

3. That she was left ofin agencyelephonezall list. (Id.  19)
4. That she was questioned about taking time to vadte.{ (L9)

5. That she was questioned about taking sick leave to get a doctor’s
note. (d. { 19)

6. That she was denied access to office equipmigaty 19)
7. That she receivedo 2013 evaluation or bonudd.(11 33, 35)

8. That FSISassigned and seated Jackie ShamblihERD in
order to intimidate her(ld. 1 38)

USDA accepted only one issue for investigation in its April 25, 2013 letter and

only three issues in its June 16, 2014 letMs. GuerrerochallengedJSDA'’s characterizations
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of her2012claims,both inaMay 15, 2013 LetterDkt. 9-2 at 23, and at her September 18, 2014
Hearing,seeTranscript Dkt 9-5, at 1:9. Although the Secretary does not differentiate between
Ms. Guerrero’s First and Second Administrative Complaints, the distinctidnnsately
unimportant because the Court will not dismiss any claim on the ground that it wasepiedc
for investigation by the USDA?2

The propercomparators not the USDA'’s acceptance lettdosf rather Ms.
Guerrero’s EEO and Administrative Complainfsdministrativeexhaustion turns on the
plaintiff's efforts, not the agency’s respongdds. Guerrero’s detailed allegations (after
counseling, to be sure, but more than enouglugmest &ostile work environmetvere
directed in large measure agaitist Office of Civil Rightsthe very officeresponsible for
deciding what allegations to accept and investighte¢hese circumstancels. Guerrero has
raised asufficient question about the neutrality of #igency’s acceptance procéssvarrant
discovery intoher claims.

The Secretary’s focus on the exclusivity of the acceptanceslettiverefore
unavailing. Motat 34 (arguing that “the EEO Counselor Report focused exclusively on the
discrete reassignment, and it did not discuss any of the harassing acksinititrmow
characterizes as constitg a hostile work environmeit While the Secretary correcthgads
the First Acceptance Lettdne ignores Ms. Guerrero’s subsequent challenges to it and the details
in her First Administrative ComplaintShe clearlycomplainedabouta course of alleged

mistreatment due to her color (Black), race (Hispanic) aedm). First Admin. Compl. aP.

22 Courts in this district have split over whether “a plaintiff's ‘failure tgp@nd to the [agency’s]
framing of the issue supports a finding that a plaintiff has failed to exhawstrhisistrative
remedies with respect to those claimsSée Moktar v. Kerry, 83 F. Supp. 3d 49, 65 (D.D.C.
2015) (quotingMcKeithan v. BoarmarB803 F. Supp. 2d 63, 68 (D.D.C. 2011) (internal citations
and quotation omitted).
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The EEO Counselor failed to address those allegations by Ms. Guevhech explainedwhy
shebelieved that a forced and sudden reassignmearERD was discriminatory, a continuation
of past discrimination, and a blow to her career. It cannot be said that Ms. Guesteertof
complain; the EEO Counselor reduced the scope of her complaints to thenmesliate eveist
and the Civil Rights Division narrowed the scope of the complaint even rGomapareFirst
Admin. Compl.with First Acceptance Letteand Second Admin. Complaintith Second
Acceptance Letter.

With the record before it, the Court will not dismiss any claim on the ground that
the USDA did not accept certain of her claims for investigation.

D. Failure to State a Claim of Discrimination

The Secretary alsaguesthat Ms. Guerrero has not made optiana faciecase
with respect tdive of herclaims First, the Secretary challengasyclaim by Ms. Guerrero of
race or genderbased discriminatiohy comparisorno Alexandra Sifuente€arnesaHispanic
female SeeMot. at 12; Am. Compl. 1 24-255econd, the Secretary explathatMs. Guerrero
was not selectefibr anyLegd Specialist positiofbecause she did not have a signed performance
appraisafor the first applicatiorand withdrew her fourthpplication SeeMot. at 12-13 Am.
Compl. 11 20, 33Third, the Secretary categorically assallegations that younger or white
supervisors were selected for positions for whth Guerreralid not apply. SeeMot. at 13
Am. Compl.§ 27. Fourth, the Secretary arguthat Ms. Guerrero'discomfort at the
relationship between Mr. Almanza and Ms. Rottenberg is not cognizable underITitleeé
Mot. at 13-14; Am. Compl] 30. Finally, the Secretary asks the Court to dismiss Ms. Guerrero’s
allegations that hesupervisors continuously referred to her as an int8geMot. at 14;Am.

Compl.{ 31.
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Ms. Guerrero alleges that she was discriminated or retaliated against beeause sh
is Hispanic, Black/African American, and aged 52. Whether Ms. Sifu€aases was a
comparable Hispanic femabtgth similar assignmentso as to rendévls. Guerrero’'s EEO
complaints meriess is insufficiently addressed and cannot be decided on this foreshortened
record

[A] plaintiff in a Title VII case is not required to show that she was

disadvantaged in favor of a person outside of the protected class. In

other words, in order to make out a prima facie case, it is not

necessary for an AfricaAmerican plaintiff to show that she was

disadvantaged by the employ&hiring of a Caucasian applicant, or

for a female plaintiff to show that a male was hired in her stead

The employés hiring of a person of the same race or sex as the

plaintiff might be relevant in assessing the merits of a pldisitiff

claim beyond the stage of the prima facie case, bsinivt a factor
in the plaintiff's establishment of a prima facie case.

Teneyck v. Omni Shoreham Ho@$5 F.3d 1139, 1150 (D.C. Cir. 20@4ijtation omitted) Ms.
SifuentesCarnes’sapparent position in one dfs. Guerrero’s protected classeshasrelevant
to, but not dispositive oiMs. Guerrero’s claimsCf. id. (“[E]ven if a plaintiff is replaced by
someone within her class, she could still demonstrate that the employer treatedsieehan
others because she was a member of the protected cladssgnt discovery into the
circumstances, theddrt will not dismiss this claim.

Other allegations similarly cannot be decided without a reconé. fdilure ofs.
Guerrero’smanagers to provideer with a signed performance appraisahsignificantwithout
context There may have been a legitimate reasortheabsence of an appraisal (and thus
eligibility for promotion)may have beepart of a continuing hostile environment that only
ripened later Discovery will tell. The persistent reference to Ms. Guerrero as an “intern”
likewise will be illuminated by a factual record.

However, Ms. Guerrerro cannot complain about the selection of younger or white
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persons for jobfr whichshe did not applySeeCarter v. George Washington UniBd87 F.3d
872, 878 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (identifying, as one of four elemanégfailure-to-hire claimthat the
plaintiff “applied and was qualified for a job for which the employer was seeking applicants
(quotingMcDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 802)See als&ingktary v.District of Columbia 351
F.3d 519, 524 (D.C. Cir. 2008)Where the alleged retaliation took the form of a failure to
promote, as it did here, the plaintiff must also show that he applied for an available johtand t
he was qualified for that positidin(citing Morgan v. Fed. Home Loan Mortgage Cqrp28
F.3d 647, 651 (D.C. Cir. 2003)Y-he Secretary’s motion will be grantad toParagraph 27 of
the Amended Complaint.

The Court will also grant the Secretary’s motion regartiisgGuerrero’s
discomfort at the alleged relationship between Mr. Almanza and Ms. Rottenhexng.if &s.
Rottenberg rubbed Mr. Almanza’s shoulders, Am. Comp., fh&Gact did not constitutn
adverse employment actigdiscriminatory)nor was itmaterially adverse to Ms. Guerrero
(retaliatory) No amount of discovery could make it of. Mayers v. Laborers’ Health &
Safety Fund of N. Am404 F. Supp. 2d 59, 632 (D.D.C.2005 (dismissing retaliation claim by
plaintiff who felt “very uncomforble” because her egorkers were acting as if she werat
there) aff'd 478 F.3d 364 (D.C. Cir. 2007ingleton v. Potterd02 F. Supp. 2d 12, 43 (D.D.C.
2005)(“Indeed [ most of the instances cited by Plaintiff, while perhaps uncomfortable, do not
rise to the level of adverse employment actions.”).

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the Secretary’s motion to dismiss will be giraptad

and denied in part. he following discrete acts alleged by Ms. @aeo in her Amended

Complaintare untimelynot individually actionable, anthereforewill be dismissed
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1. That she waseferred to as an intern and . relegated to
secretarial duties with undesirable assignments. (Am. Compl.
1923, 25, 32)

2. That her skin was touched by Ms. Rottenberg and Mr. Sait, and
that she was asked if she was a Negld. 1(29)

3. That her assignments were removed, and that she became the
subject of open discussions meant to humiliate Hdr.q (29)

4. That she received a performance appraisal in 2011 that stated:
“Plaintiff would be well served if she should keep silent [sic]
what happened in Civil Rights.”ld T 29)

5. That she was told “to go someplace else if you want an
opportunity.” (d. § 30)

6. Thatshe was denied an opportunity to take leadership courses.
(Id. 137)

7. That she was made to clean out a storage room filled with
hazardous materialsid( { 15)

8. That she was told “she would be well served if she remained
silent about her poor treatment.ld.(] 16)

These allegationsiaynonethelesbe relevant background eviderafeMs. Guerrero’s claim od
hostile work environment.

Ms. Guerrerts claimsthat younger, white persons were selected to fill jobs for
which Ms. Guerrero did not apply, Am. Compl. § 27, and thatstse“uncomfortable” because
of the “close personal relationship” between Mr. Al Almanza and Ms. CarmeanRettyid.
30, will be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief eagrénted.

In all other respects, the Secretary’s MotiorDismissshall bedenied. A
memorializingOrder accompanies this Opinion.

Date: September 30, 2015 Is/

ROSEMARY M. COLLYER
United States District Judge
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